





COMPUTATIONAL



Mini Review Biobetters From an Integrated Computational/Experimental Approach

10101010010

Serdar Kuyucak^{a,*}, Veysel Kayser^b

^a School of Physics, University of Sydney, NSW 2006, Australia

^b Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Sydney, NSW 2006, Australia

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 3 November 2016 Received in revised form 5 January 2017 Accepted 10 January 2017 Available online 16 January 2017

Keywords: Rational drug design Molecular dynamics Docking Potential of mean force Free energy perturbation

Contents

ADSIKACI

Biobetters are new drugs designed from existing peptide or protein-based therapeutics by improving their properties such as affinity and selectivity for the target epitope, and stability against degradation. Computational methods can play a key role in such design problems—by predicting the changes that are most likely to succeed, they can drastically reduce the number of experiments to be performed. Here we discuss the computational and experimental methods commonly used in drug design problems, focusing on the inverse relationship between the two, namely, the more accurate the computational predictions means the less experimental effort is needed for testing. Examples discussed include efforts to design selective analogs from toxin peptides targeting ion channels for treatment of autoimmune diseases and monoclonal antibodies which are the fastest growing class of therapeutic agents particularly for cancers and autoimmune diseases.

© 2017 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

1.	Introduction	138
2.	Computational Methods	139
	2.1. Protein-Ligand Complex Structure from Docking and MD	139
	2.2. Free Energy Calculations	139
3.	Experimental Methods	140
	3.1. Methods for Affinity Measurements	140
	3.2. Methods for Aggregation	141
4.	Applications to Biobetters	142
	4.1. Improving Selectivity of Toxin Peptides	142
	4.2. Biobetters from Monoclonal Antibodies	143
5.	Summary and Outlook	143
Refe	erences	144

1. Introduction

Most of the drug leads that have high affinity for the target receptor ultimately fail because of problems with side effects, cytotoxicity or degradation. In fact, such problems are present in existing drugs but at a tolerable level. Improving the properties of existing biologics (protein or peptide-based drugs or drug leads) against such shortcomings is dubbed biobetters. Because the chemical space is very large, design of biobetters through trial and error methods is unlikely to succeed. One

* Corresponding author.

needs to make use of all the available information about the problems faced by a drug in order to facilitate the design of a biobetter. In fact, the experimental effort will be inversely proportional to the amount and accuracy of the information provided. As an example, consider solving the selectivity problem of a peptide ligand which binds to an off-target protein with a high affinity. If no information is available, one has to examine various mutations on the ligand which could be a very large experimental undertaking, e.g., for an average ligand with 30 amino acids, there are $30 \times 19 = 570$ single mutations and $(30 \times 29/2) \times 19^2 = 157,035$ double mutations to consider. Using a docking program, one could identify the binding region on the ligand, which will reduce the number of mutations, e.g., if there are 4 residues in the hot spot, the number of single and double mutations will be

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2017.01.003

2001-0370/© 2017 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

E-mail address: serdar.kuyucak@sydney.edu.au (S. Kuyucak).

reduced to 76 and 2166, respectively. While this is a drastic reduction, the experimental effort required is still substantial. As a next step, one could refine the binding poses obtained from docking using molecular dynamics (MD) simulations and obtain an accurate structure for the protein-ligand complex. Now one has a precise map of the intermolecular interactions and can predict with some certainty which single and double mutations will yield the best outcome for reducing the affinity of the ligand for the off-target protein.

As illustrated in the above example, obtaining an accurate model of the protein-ligand complex holds the key for designing biobetters with minimal experimental effort. The most common method used for complex structure prediction is docking, which is fast but not very accurate. On the other extreme is MD, which can provide the desired accuracy but it is very slow. Combining the two methods by refining the binding poses obtained from docking in MD simulations offers a compromise solution that has been successfully applied to numerous protein-ligand complexes in the past decade [1–3]. An important ingredient in the success of this approach is the judicious use of the available experimental information about the complex system in the computations from initial docking to final validation. For example, available mutation data can be used as restraints in docking, which facilitates sampling of the correct pose and reduces the amount of subsequent MD work. Final validation of a predicted complex structure is typically based on binding free energy and available mutation data. While mutation of the residues in the predicted binding mode provides the most detailed and hence the best test for the proposed model, such data are not routinely available. Thus one may have to rely on the binding free energy of the ligand for validation, which has to be calculated near chemical accuracy to be useful for testing. Various methods can be used in calculation binding free energies from scoring functions in docking to potential of mean force (PMF) calculations in MD simulations. Again only the PMF calculations based on MD have the potential to provide the desired chemical accuracy.

Determination of validated complex structures is the most important step in design of biobetters because inspection of the binding mode will readily indicate the most promising mutations to achieve the desired improvement in affinity or selectivity. In fact, one can go beyond that and turn qualitative predictions into quantitative ones by calculating the effect of the mutation on the binding free energy from MD simulations. Such computational mutagenesis studies have the potential to eliminate guesswork completely and deliver the optimal biobetter for a given target with minimal side effects. In the following, we review the computational and experimental methods that will help to optimize design of biobetters while reducing the experimental efforts. Applications discussed include construction of selective analogs from toxin peptides targeting ion channels and design of biobetters from monoclonal antibodies with improved affinity and aggregation resistance.

2. Computational Methods

2.1. Protein-Ligand Complex Structure from Docking and MD

Determination of crystal structures for protein-ligand complexes is extremely difficult and very rare. Therefore, construction of an accurate complex structure from a given pair of protein and ligand structures is the most critical step in the design of a biobetter. Here we stress accuracy of the complex model in particular because an incorrect binding mode will predict misleading mutation sites for improvements, resulting in wasted experimental effort. Assuming crystal or NMR structures (or good homology models) of the protein and ligand are available, one can use a docking program to find a set of initial poses for the complex [4,5]. Docking programs work by evaluating an energy function for various positions, orientations and conformations of the ligand with respect to the protein and ranking the energy scores. An energy function consists of Coulomb, van der Waals, and hydrophobic interactions and may include entropic terms. There are many commercial and academic docking programs, and choosing an appropriate one could be overwhelming. Most of them are for docking small drug-like molecules and would not be very useful for peptide ligands. Among the academic programs we mention AUTODOCK [6,7], ZDOCK [8], and HADDOCK [9,10]. AUTODOCK is the most popular docking program but works mainly for small molecules. ZDOCK can handle larger molecules like peptides but performs only rigid docking. Among the three, HADDOCK is most suitable for docking of peptide ligands as it can handle peptides and allows flexibility.

Accuracy of docking programs is limited due to neglect of water molecules and lack of adequate sampling [11]. These are automatically incorporated in MD simulations, hence MD has the capacity to provide an accurate representation of the protein-ligand interactions. However, MD is too slow to predict the complex structure from scratch. A compromise solution is to refine the binding poses predicted by docking in MD simulations, which avoids the shortcomings of either method and could provide the sought accuracy. This approach was first used for binding of small ligands (<50 at.), and promising results were obtained [1,12–14]. Feasibility of its extension to peptide ligands was initially demonstrated for binding of charybdotoxin to a KcsA potassium channel mimic using HADDOCK for docking [15], which was generalized to binding of other scorpion toxins to Kv channels in a subsequent systematic study [16]. For most channel-toxin complexes, a consensus complex was obtained from cluster analysis of the top 100 poses, which simplifies the refinement process with MD.

Several programs are available for performing MD simulations such as AMBER, CHARMM, GROMACS, and NAMD. The NAMD program [17] has been a popular choice because of its user-friendliness and the accompanying visualization and analysis software VMD [18]. Although NAMD allows use of different force fields, CHARMM has been the preferred choice in most simulations of proteins [19]. For the basic formalism of MD simulations, we refer to the monographs [20,21]. Applications of MD simulations to membrane proteins, where creation of the simulation system is more involved, can be found in the reviews [22–24]. A key step in the refinement of the chosen binding pose via MD is the relaxation process where restraints between the protein and ligand are gradually reduced. The complex system is unlikely to be properly hydrated initially so without proper relaxation, various bonds and interactions in the complex may break, resulting in a dissociated ligand. There are well-established protocols for this purpose that can also be adapted for complex structures [25]. After relaxation, MD simulations are performed on the system, monitoring RMSDs of the protein and ligand, and the distances between interacting residues. The complex system is assumed to be equilibrated when the RMSDs reach a plateau and the time series of distances between interacting pairs fluctuate around a base line.

In the final stage, trajectory data obtained from the equilibrated system are used for visualization of the complex structure and analysis of the binding mode. The binding mode can be characterized quantitatively by calculating the average distances between the interacting residues. The strong ones include charge interactions, where the N—O distance between the charged residues is about 3 Å, and hydrophobic interactions involving aromatic side chains (2–3 kcal/mol). Intermediate strength interactions include hydrogen bonds and charge interactions at larger distances (1–2 kcal/mol). The binding mode results can be compared directly to alanine scanning mutagenesis data, which provides a detailed validation for a complex model. Unfortunately alanine scanning experiments are available only in a few cases, and one has to rely on binding free energies for validation in most cases.

2.2. Free Energy Calculations

Free energy calculations can contribute to design problems in two ways: validation of complex models as alluded above and prediction of free energy changes due to mutations. Binding constants of ligands are routinely available for most complexes and thus provide a standard test for a complex model. Several methods can be used for this purpose, from docking and scoring [4,5] to molecular mechanics with Poisson-Boltzmann surface area (MM-PBSA) [26] and free energy calculations based on MD simulations [27-30]. For a method to be useful for testing purposes, it should be able to predict binding affinities accurately. Otherwise any discrepancy with the experimental binding constant cannot necessarily be attributed to incorrect modeling. The docking and scoring methods are very fast but their accuracy for binding affinities is too poor to consider them for validation [1,31,32]. Similarly MM-PBSA provides a high-throughput method which has somewhat better accuracy for binding affinities, but it is still not sufficiently accurate for testing [33,34]. Only free energy calculations based on MD have the potential to satisfy the desired level of accuracy [35–37]. The MD-based methods can be classified into two groups: i) pathindependent alchemical transformation methods where the ligand is destroyed in the binding pocket while it is created in bulk; and ii) path-dependent PMF methods, where the ligand is moved from the binding pocket to bulk using biasing potentials [27–30]. Alchemical methods are computationally cheaper and easier to use but their accuracy is compromised for larger, charged peptide ligands [35], which leaves the PMF method as the only choice at present for peptides.

The PMF provides the free energy profile of a ligand along a chosen reaction coordinate. The binding constant Keq (inverse of the dissociation constant K_D) of a ligand is obtained from the integration of the PMF, which is related to the standard binding free energy via $G_b = -kT \ln(K_{eq}C_0)$, where C_0 is the standard concentration of 1 M. Umbrella sampling MD simulations is the most common method used in PMF calculations. The problem with sampling at high-energy positions is overcome by introducing harmonic biasing potentials along the reaction coordinate [20,21]. The sampled coordinates of the ligand are unbiased and combined using the weighted histogram analysis method [38]. Applicability of the PMF method to peptide ligands was first shown for binding of charybdotoxin to a KcsA potassium channel mimic, where the binding free energy was calculated within chemical accuracy [39]. Since then, the PMF method has been used in several computational studies of toxin binding to ion channels (see [2,3,40] for reviews). Chemical accuracy was achieved in all cases, provided that a validated complex structure was employed and the PMF was calculated properly. An alternative method that has become popular in recent years due to its simplicity is to use Jarzynski's equation in steered MD simulations [41]. However, this method suffers from sampling problems and cannot provide the desired chemical accuracy for affinities [42].

Binding mode of a complex structure gives important clues on how to improve affinity and/or selectivity of a peptide ligand. By calculating the free energy change due to each suggested mutation, one can predict which one will be the most effective. Again chemical accuracy is essential in such calculations to retain predictive power, which is provided only by the MD-based methods. The two most common methods used for this purpose are free energy perturbation (FEP) and thermodynamic integration (TI) [20, 21]. In both methods, one introduces a hybrid Hamiltonian, $H(\lambda) = (1 - \lambda)H_0 + \lambda H_1$, where H_0 represents the Hamiltonian in the initial state (wild-type ligand) and H_1 in the final state (mutant ligand). The alchemical transformation is performed by changing the parameter λ from 0 to 1 in small steps, which ensures that the change in the free energy in each step is small enough to enable sufficient sampling of the system. In the FEP method, the interval [0, 1] is divided into *n* subintervals, and for each subinterval the free energy difference ΔG_i is calculate from the ensemble average. The free energy difference between the initial and final states is obtained from the sum of all ΔG_i . In the TI method, the ensemble average of the derivative $\partial H(\lambda)/\partial \lambda$ is obtained at several λ values, and the free energy difference is calculated from the integral of this quantity from 0 to 1.

Charged residues have the strongest interactions, hence mutation of a neutral residue to a charged one for improving affinity (or vice versa for improving selectivity) is a common situation. This is a challenging problem that has been resolved only recently. FEP/TI calculations for mutations are usually performed separately in the binding site and bulk. This causes problems for charge mutations because the system needs to be kept neutral and also errors arise when solvation energies are calculated in different systems. In fact, such errors can be avoided by performing the binding site and bulk calculations simultaneously in the same system. That is, while a charged residue on the peptide is mutated to a neutral one in the binding site, the reverse transformation is applied simultaneously to the mutant peptide in bulk, which is well separated from the binding pocket. It is also necessary to separate the Coulomb and Lennard-Jones interactions to avoid stability and convergence problems. This can be achieved by introducing residues with uncharged side chains (denoted with a superscript 0) as intermediate steps. For example, the free energy change due to a Lys to Ala $(K \rightarrow A)$ mutation can be expressed as $\Delta\Delta G_b = \Delta\Delta G(K \rightarrow K^0) + \Delta\Delta G$ $(K^0 \rightarrow A^0) + \Delta \Delta G (A^0 \rightarrow A)$. The thermodynamic cycle that combines these procedures in the FEP/TI calculations is illustrated in Fig. 1. Each of the contributions to the free energy difference can be calculated using the FEP or TI methods. The viability of this method for accurate calculation of the free energy change associated with charge mutations was shown for the K18A mutation in ShK in complex with Kv1.3, which will be discussed below [43]. The binding free energy differences obtained from the FEP/TI results were in good agreement with both the PMF and experimental results, demonstrating the feasibility and accuracy of this approach for calculation of free energy changes due to charge mutations [43].

3. Experimental Methods

There are many biophysical and biochemical techniques used for affinity measurements and aggregation studies of biologics. In the following, we briefly discuss some of the widely used methods.

3.1. Methods for Affinity Measurements

Affinity measurements involve detecting the equilibrium dissociation constant ($K_D = k_{off}/k_{on}$) of proteins using a variety of biophysical



Fig. 1. Example of a thermodynamic cycle used in free energy calculations. The superscript 0 denotes a residue with no charges on the side chain atoms. Reverse transformation is performed simultaneously in bulk to preserve the charge neutrality of the system during the FEP-MD simulations.

or biochemical techniques. The binding affinity is related to K_D inversely, thus a lower K_D value means a higher affinity. Using bioassays in measurement of the binding kinetics is among the most common methods. However, recording of the binding rate constants is not a trivial task, and sensitivity of the assay and reproducibility of the data need to be considered. Existing experimental methods to measure the K_D of biotherapeutics include enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) based methods, spectroscopy-based assays, calorimetric methods such as isothermal titration calorimetry, and a diverse range of biochemical methods.

ELISA-based methods are used for detecting and determining the amount of biomolecule under study in a quantitative manner [44]. Although there are different ELISA formats, the common points are: it is a microplate reading assay requiring an immobilized antigen or antibody (Ab) on a surface and detecting the amount of biomolecule with a spectroscopy-based technique, usually fluorescence. The antigen generally forms a complex with an antibody that is associated with an enzyme (direct assay). A secondary Ab that specifically binds to the first Ab may be used to increase the sensitivity of the method (indirect assay). In the direct assay, Ab is usually conjugated with a fluorescent dye molecule whereas in the latter the secondary Ab is labeled with a dye. In an indirect assay, the antigen is captured by an immobilized Ab prior to forming a complex with another Ab, which is often preferred due to a better sensitivity and specificity. A plate reader, for instance with fluorescence detection capability, is then used to record the signal from the tagged Ab. In some cases, the antigen can be labeled with a dye instead of Abs. Titrating for different amounts of primary or secondary Ab yields the fluorescent signal versus concentration gives information about the Ab-antigen interaction. This method is widely used, for example, to see whether or not the binding affinity is changed due to a mutation in a protein. Instead of fluorescence, other parameters such as absorbance could also be used to detect the interaction.

Another widely used method is surface plasmon resonance spectroscopy (SPR) [45]. It is based on detecting the plasmon wave that is created by the oscillating resonant electrons near a surface after a laser light induces the resonant state. To this end, the surface is coated with a metal layer (usually gold) and a protein sample is bound to this metal surface. Addition of antigen causes a change in the SPR signal, generally refractive index of the surface, enabling one to observe the intermolecular interactions including efficacy measurement of biotherapeutics. This method is commonly used for many sensor based detections as well as lab-on-a-chip applications, and there are several models available on the market. For example, antibody-antigen detection can be easily done with this method by coating the surface with the antigen. The target antibody is introduced into the system then and signal change is observed. Many antigens are available on ready to use chips, making SPR one of the high-throughput methods. If there is excessive binding compared to another protein, for example to another variant antibody with mutation, then a relative efficacy can be obtained.

Many different fluorescence properties can also be used to study molecular interactions including protein affinities. The sample is labeled with a fluorescence tag unless intrinsic tryptophan (tryp) fluorescence is used. One of the fluorescence properties (e.g. emission spectrum, fluorescence lifetime, anisotropy, energy transfer or quenching) is used to probe the interactions. A fluorimeter, lifetime instrument or a confocal microscope can be utilized for the detection of fluorescence intensity and lifetime. Depending on the interactions, a change in the fluorescence signal is expected upon binding to the target. This could be an increase or decrease in the emission maximum, a concurrent shift in the emission wavelength, a change in fluorescence lifetime or a change in polarization leading to change in anisotropy.

Flow cytometers are mainly used for cell sorting and detection but they can also be used in affinity studies. The sample flows through a steady stream created via hydrodynamic focusing in a narrow tubing and the scattered light as well as a fluorescence signal is detected from a fluorescent dye that is bound to the biomolecule of interest [46]. It is particularly useful for detecting biomolecules which bind to the cell surface, and therefore this is the preferred method to determine affinities in such systems, e.g., Abs. The number of biomolecules or cells as a function of forward or right-angle scattering are collected and can be related to the concentration and interaction of proteins.

3.2. Methods for Aggregation

Methods to study the structural stability and aggregation profiles of proteins can be roughly categorized into three groups [47–49]: (i) separation methods such as electrophoresis, chromatography, or centrifugation; (ii) spectroscopy based methods such as fluorescence, absorbance, light-scattering, FTIR, MS, and NMR; and (iii) microscopy based methods such as TEM, SEM, AFM, and optical. Each technique has its advantages and disadvantages and there is no single method that would be appropriate for any given system since the stability and aggregation profile of any protein is a multifaceted problem. Therefore, it is always beneficial to adapt a holistic approach and use orthogonal methods to understand the stability and aggregation issues fully. Here we will only discuss some of the widely used methods.

Intrinsic tryp fluorescence is probably the most used method for studying conformational changes in proteins, but it is also very helpful for probing protein-protein interactions [50]. Tryp fluorescence, however, becomes complicated if there is more than one tryp residue in the protein due to fluorescence being additive and also because of its solvatochromic nature. Thus, relating tryp emission to protein degradation may not be an easy task. Nevertheless, these difficulties were overcome in some studies, where tryp fluorescence was used successfully in folding and aggregation of proteins [51,52]. Another widely used fluorescence-based technique is external dye-binding method where a protein is labeled with a fluorescent dye either covalently or by diffusion [53]. If covalent labeling approach is used, chemically different reactive moieties can be used for tagging dyes onto proteins including amine, sulfhydryl, carboxyl and glycosylation groups. These dyes generally have high quantum yields with excellent photostability. In the diffusion-based dye-binding studies, dyes are bound to either a protein or protein aggregates via diffusion of the dye molecules. A large number of dyes can be used for this purpose, and in general, these dyes have hydrophobic and aromatic structures. Consequently, they mostly bind to the hydrophobic patches on the protein surface, reporting conformational stability of the protein or intercalate inner sections of aggregates, which are usually much more hydrophobic than bulk solution. Upon binding to a hydrophobic environment, the florescence properties change radically; the emission spectra shift to a different wavelength and/or intensity is enhanced. This allows one to probe conformational changes of the protein, aggregation formation over time, or the effect of different additives on the system.

Light-scattering spectroscopy is used extensively to check aggregate formation in biotherapeutic formulations [54]. Aggregates are larger molecules compared to monomers, and hence they scatter light much more. This enables us to examine the presence of aggregates in the system and also how they are formed. Two types of scattering methods are used in experimental studies of biotherapeutics: static light scattering (SLS) and dynamic light scattering (DLS). For both methods, scattered light from a laser is detected and analyzed to reveal information on various important parameters such as the size, shape and molecular weight (MW) of molecules. SLS is based on the angle dependence of the scattered light and enables detecting absolute MW of the protein and aggregate. If the sample is heterogeneous, then it may need to be separated into constituents. Therefore, SLS systems are generally linked with a molecular separation method such as high pressure liquid chromatograph (HPLC) or flow field fractionation system. DLS uses only the right-angle detection and does not require a molecular separation method. It is used to measure hydrodynamic radius of molecules in a system. It can detect a wide range of sizes of molecules and aggregates. Many groups also apply light-scattering detection in other ways to

collect information on protein aggregation, e.g., using a UV-Vis spectrophotometer or fluorimeters [55].

HPLC is the main method used in aggregation studies of proteins [49,56]. It can be operated in different modes; size-exclusion (SEC), ion-exchange, or hydrophobic-hydrophobic interaction chromatography. SEC is a widely used method, where the sample is pushed through a tightly packed column. In the absence of any sample-column interactions, small molecules are eluted last from the column because they spend most of their time inside the column and thus they are delayed. Large molecules, i.e., protein aggregates, cannot fit in many of the cavities provided in the column, and hence they are eluted first. Other molecules come out of the column based on their sizes in between aggregates and monomers. The size of the protein of interest can be characterized by running SEC with proteins in different sizes and generating a size calibration curve. In doing so, using the same buffer, pH and flow rate for all proteins could help reduce the variations in elution times. Operating a combined system of SEC-SLS could also be helpful determining MW of eluted species from the column. The eluting peaks of the sample is observed with a UV absorbance detector, refractive index detector, or a fluorescence detector. The major limitation of the HPLC method is the time it takes to conduct an experiment. Depending on the system under study, one sample can take about 30 min. Another limitation is that very large particles cannot be detected with HPLC as they would not be able to go into the system. Column blockage is commonly observed in protein aggregation studies with HPLC. Also large particles may elute in the void volume and may not be revealed with the detector.

4. Applications to Biobetters

As emphasized in Methods, accurate determination of the proteinligand complex is the most crucial step in design of biobetters whether it is for improving their affinity, selectivity or stability. Thus a proper validation of a complex structure using a variety of experimental checks is essential before proposing any mutations on a ligand. The applications discussed below are successful examples of this approach but there are many other complex structure predictions, which lack proper validation and therefore cannot be trusted for design purposes.

4.1. Improving Selectivity of Toxin Peptides

Potassium channels are targeted by many toxins, which could be utilized as therapeutics in treatment of diseases caused by their dysfunction [57]. Computational studies of toxin binding to potassium channels [2,3,40] have been facilitated thanks to the early determination of their crystal structures [58]. Here we will focus on Kv1 channels, and in particular Kv1.3, which is an established target for the treatment of autoimmune diseases [59]. ShK toxin from sea anemone binds to Kv1.3 with a picomolar affinity, and hence is well suited for development as a therapeutic agent [59]. However, ShK has a similarly high affinity for Kv1.1 in the nervous system, and, to avoid side effects, it is essential to find analogs of ShK that are selective for Kv1.3 over Kv1.1. This is precisely the type of problem that can be addressed using the computational methods discussed here. In an initial study, the complex structures for Kv1.1–ShK and Kv1.3–ShK were constructed and



Fig. 2. Snapshots of the Kv1.1–ShK and Kv1.3–ShK complexes. Only the strongly interacting residues involved in the binding are indicated explicitly. In order to show all the interacting pairs, two views of the complex are presented. In both cases, the pore inserting lysine (K22) blocks the pore.



Fig. 3. Aggregation of protein and some of the potential issues observed due to aggregation.

validated using the available mutation data and binding free energies [60]. Comparison of the binding modes (Fig. 2) indicates some possible mutations for improving the Kv1.3/Kv1.1 selectivity, e.g., K18 and R29 on ShK make strong charge interactions with Kv1.1 but not with Kv1.3. Thus mutation of these residues to alanine should reduce its affinity for Kv1.1 without affecting Kv1.3 affinity. In the next step, free energy calculations were performed for the K18A and R29A mutations [43]. The latter changed the binding mode and was not useful but K18A was predicted to improve the Kv1.3/Kv1.1 selectivity by more than 2 kcal/mol, which was confirmed in subsequent experiments [43].

The scorpion toxin HsTx1 has a similarly high affinity for Kv1.3 and also exhibits 700-fold selectivity for Kv1.3 over Kv1.1 [61]. HsTx1 has a more stable structure than ShK, and may offer a better alternative as a therapeutic for autoimmune diseases. A similar computational study was performed for binding of HsTx1 to Kv1 channels [62]. The complex structures were validated using the binding free energies determined from PMF calculations. Comparison of the binding modes of HsTx1 with Kv1.1 and Kv1.3 showed that R14 in HsTx1 is strongly coupled to a glutamate in Kv1.1 but has no interactions with Kv1.3. Thus, the R14A mutation could further enhance the Kv1.3/Kv1.1 selectivity of HsTx1. This was followed up by performing free energy calculations for the binding of HsTx1[R14A] to Kv1.1 and Kv1.3, and more than 2 kcal/mol gain the in Kv1.3/Kv1.1 selectivity was predicted, which was confirmed in subsequent functional assay experiments [63]. While HsTx1 is more stable than ShK against degradation by enzymes [64], oral availability is still a problem. Various means have been proposed to improve the biopharmaceutical properties of peptide drugs such as cyclization [65], replacing the disulfide bridges with cystathionine bridges [66], and using lactam bridges to stabilize helical pharmacophores [67]. Yet another avenue for obtaining stable drugs is to use star polymers with functionalized ends [68].

4.2. Biobetters from Monoclonal Antibodies

Monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) are the leading molecules in the biotech industry [69]. They have great pharmaceutical significance thanks to their unmatched specificity and affinity, and hundreds of mAbs are in the late stages of development [70]. Due to their large size, improving their properties poses a more challenging problem but it is still within the reach of current high performance computers. Improving the affinity/selectivity profile of a mAb follows the same script as already discussed for toxins. We will therefore focus on the aggregation problem here, which affects mAbs from development to administration. A typical path for aggregation of proteins and the ensuing consequences are shown schematically in Fig. 3. The critical step in aggregation is the partial unfolding of the protein, which exposes hydrophobic regions, followed by dimer formation that exploits the exposed regions. Thus prevention requires finding the weak points in the protein that are involved in unfolding and performing mutations at those points to prevent unfolding. If that fails, one can also try mutations that will reduce the binding affinity of another monomer.

Thus the first step in a computational study of protein aggregation is to find the partially unfolded conformations. Most of the existing approaches for predicting aggregation-prone regions of proteins are based on bioinformatics methods that search for hydrophobic regions in the amino acid sequence and use static protein structures [71]. While this approach has had some success [72], a comprehensive understanding of aggregation requires a dynamic method that will help to find the conformations leading to the dimer formation. MD simulations provide the best method for studying conformational changes is proteins but the partial unfolding of a protein is a rare process and it could take a very long time to observe. This can be overcome by performing MD simulations at higher temperatures, which will speed up unfolding of the protein [73]. Once the dominant unfolded conformer is identified, its complex structures with itself and the room temperature structure can be constructed using docking and MD. The binding free energies of the two complexes can be calculated to reveal which one is more likely to initiate aggregation. The last step is to perform mutations that will either prevent unfolding of the protein (which is expected to be harder to achieve) or reduce the binding affinity in the most stable dimer structure. The latter is similar to solving the selectivity problem for toxin peptides and follows an identical recipe. Because of the large size of mAbs, a proof of concept study was first performed for lysozyme, which does not aggregate, and its D67H mutant, which aggregates (D. Patel and S. Kuyucak, unpublished). Unfolding of the mutant lysozyme was indeed observed in high temperature MD simulations and this structure was shown to form a stable dimer with itself. The wild type lysozyme did not unfold during the same high temperature MD simulations, confirming the robustness of this approach for studies of unfolding in other proteins. In particular, application of this method to mAbs is likely to deliver novel ways to prevent their aggregation.

5. Summary and Outlook

Thanks to the continuing increase in computing power and developments in computational methods, we now have the ability to determine the structure of protein-ligand complexes and their binding free energies accurately. Such methods will be very useful in rational drug design in general and will facilitate development of biobetters from existing peptide and protein- based drugs. The possibility of constructing accurate complex models means that one can make rational choices for mutations to improve the affinity/selectivity profile or stability of a peptide drug lead. The effect of the chosen mutations on the binding free energy of a ligand can be determined from free energy calculations, which will minimize the experimental efforts. Although we have used peptide toxins targeting potassium channels for illustration purposes, the computational methods described here are quite general and can be applied to any receptor-ligand system, as long as their individual structures are available. In particular, developing biobetters from mAbs will greatly benefit from the computation-driven approach espoused here.

References

- Alonso H, Bliznyuk AA, Gready JE. Combining docking and molecular dynamic simulations in drug design. Med Res Rev 2006;26:531–68.
- [2] Gordon D, Chen R, Chung SH. Computational methods of studying the binding of toxins from venomous animals to biological ion channels. Physiol Rev 2013;93: 767–802.
- [3] Kuyucak S, Norton RS. Computational approaches for designing potent and selective analogues of peptide toxins as novel therapeutics. Future Med Chem 2014;6: 1645–58.
- [4] Halperin I, Ma B, Wolfson H, Nussinov R. Principles of docking: an overview of search algorithms and a guide to scoring functions. Proteins 2002;47:409–43.
- [5] Brooijmans N, Kuntz ID. Molecular recognition and docking algorithms. Annu Rev Biophys Biomol Struct 2003;32:335–73.
- [6] Morris GM, Goodsell DS, Halliday RS, Huey R, Hart WE, Belew RK, et al. Automated docking using a Lamarckian genetic algorithm and empirical binding free energy function. J Comput Chem 1998;19:1639–62.
- [7] Morris GM, Huey R, Lindström W, Sanner MF, Belew RK, Goodsell DS, et al. Autodock4 and AutoDockTools4: automated docking with selective receptor flexibility. J Comput Chem 2009;30:2785–91.
- [8] Mintseris J, Pierce B, Wiehe K, Anderson R, Chen R, Weng Z. Integrating statistical pair potentials into protein complex prediction. Proteins 2007;69:511–20.
- [9] Dominguez C, Boelens R, Bonvin AM. HADDOCK: a protein-protein docking approach based on biochemical or biophysical information. J Am Chem Soc 2003; 125:1731–7.
- [10] De Vries SJ, van Dijk AD, Krzeminski M, van Dijk M, Thureau A, Hsu V, et al. HAD-DOCK versus HADDOCK: new features and performance of HADDOCK2.0 on the CAPRI targets. Proteins 2007;69:726–33.
- [11] Warren GL, Andrews CW, Capelli AM, Clarke B, LaLonde J, Lambert MH, et al. A critical assessment of docking programs and scoring functions. J Med Chem 2006;49: 5912–31.
- [12] Patra SM, Bastug T, Kuyucak S. Binding of organic cations to gramicidin: a channel studied with autodock and molecular dynamics simulations. J Phys Chem B 2007; 111:11303–11.
- [13] Ander M, Luzhkov VB, Aqvist J. Ligand binding to the voltage-gated Kv1.5 potassium channel in the open state–docking and computer simulations of a homology model. Biophys J 2007;9:820–31.
- [14] Yi H, Qju S, Cao ZJ, Wu YL, Li WX. Molecular basis of inhibitory peptide maurotoxin recognizing Kv1.2 channel explored by ZDOCK and molecular dynamic simulations. Proteins 2008;70:844–54.
- [15] Chen PC, Kuyucak S. Mechanism and energetics of charybdotoxin unbinding from a potassium channel from molecular dynamics simulations. Biophys J 2009;96:2577–88.
- [16] Chen PC, Kuyucak S. Developing a comparative docking protocol for the prediction of peptide selectivity profiles: investigation of potassium channel toxins. Toxins 2012;4:110–38.
- [17] Phillips JC, Braun R, Wang W, Gumbart J, Tajkhorshid E, Villa E, et al. Scalable molecular dynamics with NAMD. J Comput Chem 2005;26:1781–802.
- [18] Humphrey W, Dalke A, Schulten K. VMD-visual molecular dynamics. J Mol Graph 1996;14:33–8.
- [19] MacKerell AD, Bashford D, Bellott M, Dunbrack RL, Evanseck JD, Field MJ, et al. Allatom empirical potential for molecular modeling and dynamics studies of proteins. J Phys Chem B 1998;30:3586–616.
- [20] Frenkel D, Smit B. Understanding molecular simulation: from algorithms to applications. San Diego: Academic Press; 1996.
- [21] Leach AR. Molecular Modelling, principles, applications. New York: Prentice Hall; 2001.
- [22] Stansfeld PJ, Sansom MSP. Molecular simulation approaches to membrane proteins. Structure 2011;19:1562–72.
- [23] Dror RO, Dirks RM, Grossman JP, Xu H, Shaw DE. Biomolecular simulations: a com-
- putational microscope for molecular biology. Annu Rev Biophys 2012;41:429–52. [24] Bastug T, Kuyucak S. Molecular dynamics simulations of membrane proteins.
- Biophys Rev 2012;4:271–82. [25] Bastug T, Kuyucak S. Importance of the peptide backbone description in modeling
- the selectivity filter in potassium channels. Biophys J 2009;96:4006–12. [26] Kollman PA, Massova I, Reyes C, Kuhn B, Huo S, Chong L, et al. Calculating structures
- and free energies of complex molecules: combining molecular mechanic and continuum models. Acc Chem Res 2000;33:889–97.
- [27] Zhou HX, Gilson MK. Theory of free energy and entropy in noncovalent binding. Chem Rev 2009;109:4092–107.
- [28] Deng Y, Roux B. Computations of standard binding free energies with molecular dynamics simulations. J Phys Chem B 2009;113:2234–46.
 [29] Christ CD, Mark AE, van Gunsteren WF. Basic ingredients of free energy calculations.
- J Comput Chem 2010;31:1569–82. [30] Steinbrecher T, Labahn A. Towards accurate free energy calculations in ligand-
- protein binding studies. Curr Med Chem 2010;17:767–85.
- [31] Enyedy IJ, Egan WJ. Can we use docking and scoring for hit-to-lead optimization? J Comput Aided Mol Des 2008;22:161-8.
- [32] Schneider G. Virtual screening: an endless staircase? Nat Rev Drug Discov 2010;9: 273–6.
- [33] Brown SP, Muchmore SW. Large scale application of high-throughput molecular mechanics with Poisson-Boltzmann surface area for routine physics-based scoring of protein-ligand complexes. J Med Chem 2009;52:3159–65.
- [34] Singh N, Warshel A. Absolute binding free energy calculations: on the accuracy of computational scoring of protein-ligand interactions. Proteins 2010;78:1705–17123.
- [35] Michel J, Essex JW. Prediction of protein-ligand affinity by free energy simulations: assumptions, pitfalls and expectations. J Comput Aided Mol Des 2011;24:639–58.

- [36] Chodera JD, Mobley DL, Shirts MR, Dixon RW, Branson K, Pande VS. Alchemical free energy methods for drug discovery: progress and challenges. Curr Opin Struct Biol 2011;21:150–60.
- [37] Mobley DL, Klimov PV. Perspective: alchemical free energy calculations in drug discovery. J Chem Phys 2012;137:230901.
- [38] Kumar S, Bouzida SD, Swensen RH, Kollman PA, Rosenberg JM. The weighted histogram analysis method for free-energy calculations on biomolecules. J Comput Chem 1992;13:1011–21.
- [39] Chen PC, Kuyucak S. Accurate determination of the binding free energy for KcsAcharybdotoxin complex from the potential of mean force calculations. Biophys J 2011;100:2466–74.
- [40] Rashid MH, Mahdavi S, Kuyucak S. Computational studies of marine toxins targeting ion channels. Mar Drugs 2013;11:848–69.
- [41] Park S, Schulten K. Calculating potentials of mean force from steered molecular dynamics simulations. J Chem Phys 2004;120:5946–61.
- [42] Bastug T, Chen PC, Patra SM, Kuyucak S. Potential of mean force calculations of ligand binding to ion channels from Jarzynski's equality and umbrella sampling. J Chem Phys 2008;128:104–12.
- [43] Rashid MH, Heinzelmann G, Huq R, Tajhya RB, Chang SC, Chhabra S, et al. A potent and selective peptide blocker of the Kv1.3 channel: prediction from free-energy simulations and experimental confirmation. PLoS One 2013;8:e78712.
- [44] Bobrovnik SA. Determination of antibody affinity by ELISA. Theory J Biochem Biophys Methods 2003;57:213–36.
- [45] Olaru A, Bala C, Jaffrezic-Renault N, Aboul-Enein HY. Surface plasmon resonance (SPR) biosensors in pharmaceutical analysis. Crit Rev Anal Chem 2015;45:97–105.
- [46] Geuijen CAW, Clijsters-van der Horst M, Cox F, Throsby PML Rood, Jongeneelen MA, et al. Affinity ranking of antibodies using flow cytometry: application in antibody phage display-based target discovery. J Immunol Methods 2005;302:68–77.
- [47] Kumar S, Wang X, Singh SK. Identification and impact of aggregation-prone regions in proteins and therapeutic monoclonal antibodies, in aggregation of therapeutic proteins. John Wiley & Sons; 2010 103–18.
- [48] den Engelsman J, Garidel P, Smulders R, Koll H, Smith B, Bassarab S, et al. Strategies for the assessment of protein aggregates in pharmaceutical biotech product development. Pharm Res 2011;28:920–33.
- [49] Gokarn Y, Agarwal S, Arthur K, Bepperling A, Day ES, Filoti D, et al. Biophysical techniques for characterizing the higher order structure and interactions of monoclonal antibodies, in state-of-the-art and emerging technologies for therapeutic monoclonal antibody characterization. In: American Chemical Society, editor. Volume 2. Biopharmaceutical characterization, vol. 1201. The NISTmAb case study; 2015. p. 285–327.
- [50] Lakowicz JR. Principles of fluorescence spectroscopy. 3rd ed. Maryland, USA: Springer; 2006.
- [51] Kayser V, Chennamsetty N, Voynov V, Helk B, Trout BL. Tryptophan-tryptophan energy transfer and classification of tryptophan residues in proteins: therapeutic monoclonal antibody as a model. J Fluoresc 2010;21:275–88.
- [52] Reshetnyak YK, Andreev OA, Borejdo J, Toptygin DD, Brand L, Burstein EA. The identification of tryptophan residues responsible for ATP-induced increase in intrinsic fluorescence of myosin subfragment 1. J Biomol Struct Dyn 2000;18:113–25.
- [53] Kayser V, Chennamsetty N, Voynov V, Helk B, Forrer K, Trout BL A screening tool for therapeutic monoclonal antibodies: identifying the most stable protein and its best formulation based on thioflavin T binding. Biotechnol J 2012;7:127–32.
- [54] Attri AK, Minton AP. New methods for measuring macromolecular interactions in solution via static light scattering: basic methodology and application to nonassociating and self-associating proteins. Anal Biochem 2005;337:103–10.
- [55] Kurganov ERRBI, Dobrov EN. Kinetics of thermal aggregation of tobacco mosaic virus coat protein. Biochemistry (Mosc) 2002;67:525–33.
- [56] Kayser V, Chennamsetty N, Voynov V, Helk B, Forrer K, Trout BL. Evaluation of a non-Arrhenius model for therapeutic monoclonal antibody aggregation. J Pharm Sci 2011;100:2526–42.
- [57] Wulff H, Zhorov BS. K⁺ channel modulators for the treatment of neurological disorders and autoimmune diseases. Chem Rev 2008;108:1744–73.
- [58] Doyle DA, Cabral JM, Pfuetzner RA, Kuo A, Gulbis JM, Cohen SL, et al. The structure of the potassium channel: molecular basis of K⁺ conduction and selectivity. Science 1998;280:69–77.
- [59] Chi V, Pennington MW, Norton RS, Tarcha EJ, Londono LM, Sims-Fahey B, et al. Development of a sea anemone toxin as an immunomodulator for therapy of autoimmune diseases. Toxicon 2012;59:529–46.
- [60] Rashid MH, Kuyucak S. Affinity and selectivity of ShK toxin for the Kv1 potassium channels from free energy simulations. J Phys Chem B 2012;116:4812–22.
- [61] Regaya L, Beeton C, Ferrat G, Andreotti N, Darbon H, Waard M De, et al. Evidence for domain specific recognition of SK and Kv channels by MTX and HsTx1 scorpion toxins. J Biol Chem 2004;279:55690–6.
- [62] Rashid MH, Kuyucak S. Free energy simulations of binding of HsTx1 toxin to Kv1 potassium channels: the basis of Kv1.3/Kv1.1 selectivity. J Phys Chem B 2014;118: 707–16.
- [63] Rashid MH, Huq R, Tanner M, Chhabra S, Khoo KK, Estrada R, et al. A potent and Kv1.3-selective analogue of the scorpion toxin HsTX1 as a potential therapeutic for autoimmune diseases. Sci Rep 2014;4:4509.
- [64] Jin L, Boyd BJ, Larson IC, Pennington MW, Norton RS, Nicolazzo JA. Enabling noninvasive systemic delivery of the Kv1.3-blocking peptide HsTX1[R14A] via the buccal mucosa. J Pharm Sci 2016;105:2173–9.
- [65] Clark RJ, Akcan M, Kaas Q, Daly NL, Craik DJ. Cyclization of conotoxins to improve their biopharmaceutical properties. Toxicon 2012;59:446–55.
- [66] Dekan Z, Vetter I, Dally N, Craik DJ, Lewis RJ, Alewood PF. α-Conotoxin Iml incorporating stable cystathionine bridges maintains full potency and identical threedimensional structure. JACS 2011;133:15866–9.

- [67] Khoo KK, Wilson MJ, Smith BJ, Zhang MM, Gulyas J, Yoshikami D, et al. Lactam-stabilized helical analogues of the analgesic μ-conotoxin KIIIA. J Med Chem 2011; 54:7558-66.
- [68] Chen R, Lu DR, Xie ZL, Feng J, Jia Z, Ho J, et al. Peptidomimetic star polymers for targeting biological ion channels. PLoS One 2016;11:e0152169.
 [69] Ecker DM, Jones SD, Levine HL. The therapeutic monoclonal antibody market. MAbs
- 2015;7:9-14.
- [70] Elgundi Z, Reslan M, Cruz E, Sifniotis V, Kayser V. The state-of-play and future of antibody therapeutics. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2016. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.addr. 2016.11.004.
- [71] Chennamsetty N, Helk B, Voynov V, Kayser V, Trout BL. Aggregation prone motifs in human immunoglobulin G. J Mol Biol 2009;391:404–13.
- 172] Chennamsetty N, Voynov V, Kayser V, Helk B, Trout BL. Design of therapeutic proteins with enhanced stability. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009;106:11937–42.
 [73] Toofanny RD, Daggett V. Understanding protein unfolding from molecular simulations. WIRES Comput Mol Sci 2012;2:405–23.